IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

ICA EFiled: Jun 16 2023 03:51PM EDT Transaction ID 70213280

NO. 23-ICA-127

JASON HAUGHT, IN HIS CAPACITY AS DIRECTOR OF THE PUBLIC EMPLOYEES INSURANCE AGENCY, AND MARK D. SCOTT, GEOFF S. CHRISTIAN, AMANDA D. MEADOWS, JARED ROBERTSON, DAMITA JOHNSON, JASON MYERS, MICHAEL COOK, WILLIAM MILAM, AND MICHAEL T. SMITH, IN THEIR CAPACITIES AS MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC EMPLOYEES INSURANCE AGENCY FINANCE BOARD,

Petitioners,

v.

AIR EVAC EMS, INC.,

Respondent,

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, Civil Action No. 19-AA-169

PETITIONERS' BRIEF

PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The Circuit Court of Kanawha County granted in part and denied in part Respondent Air Evac EMS Inc.'s Petition for Appeal. That court held that it had jurisdiction and remanded the case to the administrative level for a hearing. This Court should vacate the circuit court's order and remand with instructions to dismiss the case based on the following:

- I. The circuit court should have dismissed this case on sovereign immunity grounds because Petitioners (collectively, "PEIA") are "the state" under W. Va. Const. art VI, § 35, no sovereign-immunity exceptions apply, and the circuit court's newly minted work-around violates the constitution, case law, and public policy.
- II. The circuit court should have dismissed this case because the procedural vehicles Air Evac is using—the Administrative Procedures Act ("APA") and PEIA's Contested Case Rules ("CCR")—are inapplicable here; a party can invoke them only after proving that it had a right to an administrative hearing, something Air Evac never showed.
- III. The circuit court should have dismissed this case on the merits because PEIA had authority under state law and the law of the case, *Air Evac EMS, Inc. v. Cheatham*, 910 F.3d 751 (4th Cir. 2018), to limit payment to the Medicare Rural Rate.
- IV. The circuit court should have dismissed this case on qualified immunity grounds because PEIA's decision to pay Air Evac the Medicare Rural rate for ambulance trips was discretionary, and Air Evac cannot show that it has a clearly established right to be paid whatever it demands.

INTRODUCTION

Air Evac doesn't have the power over PEIA that it imagines. It thinks it can sue PEIA for money; compel PEIA to give it an administrative hearing without qualifying for one under the statute and rules; force PEIA to pay whatever Air Evac demands for its services; and strip PEIA of its discretion in implementing the PEI Act. But Air Evac is wrong on all counts.

The West Virginia Constitution makes PEIA sovereignly immune. PEIA is "the state," and Air Evac is seeking money for past services. No recognized exception applies, and the Court should not endorse the one the circuit court invented; it violates the Constitution, case law, and good sense. Air Evac can't sue PEIA in state court. Thus, jurisdiction is lacking, and the case should be over.

Were all that not enough, Air Evac also used the wrong legal mechanism to bring its claims. It sued under the APA and CCR—both of which require the underlying agency proceeding to be a "contested case." To qualify as a contested case, some legal authority must require the agency to hold a hearing. But no constitutional provision, statute, or rule gives Air Evac that right. So for this other reason, the circuit court lacked jurisdiction and (again) should have dismissed.

Jurisdictional issues aside, Air Evac fares no better on the merits. As the Fourth Circuit put it, the law does not require PEIA to "pay whatever" Air Evac "may demand" but may limit payments to Air Evac "after the fact." In line with that view, PEIA used its director's broad statutory authority to manage provider payments—authority federal courts did not consider or enjoin in Air Evac's related litigation. The agency then chose to pay Air Evac the Medicare Rural rate. And because Air Evac can charge members for the balance of those bills, PEIA's rate doesn't violate the federal injunction.

Lastly, PEIA should also win on qualified immunity grounds. Common law says that because PEIA's decision at issue—paying Air Evac the Medicare Rural rate for its air ambulance services—didn't clearly violate the law. The circuit court therefore cannot second-guess PEIA's discretionary choice. Air Evac's suit should have been dismissed for this reason, too.

The Court lacks jurisdiction for two independent reasons, and Air Evac is wrong on the merits for two other independent reasons. So no matter how one views this case, the Court should vacate the circuit court's order and remand with instructions to dismiss.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. The Legislature endowed PEIA with broad power to provide and manage state employees' insurance.

West Virginia provides health insurance to its employees and their spouses and dependents through PEIA. W. VA. CODE §§ 5-16-1 *et seq.* PEIA's main goal is to bring "fiscal stability" to these members' healthcare costs. *Id.* § 5-16-5(a).

The Legislature empowered PEIA to decide how much it will pay for health care services. PEIA's main rate-setting tool is its annual financial plan and accompanying fee schedule, which set the "[m]aximum level of reimbursement" for "categories of health care providers." W. VA. CODE § 5-16-5(c)(1). These fee schedules fix PEIA's responsibility to pay for certain services at a specified rate, and they limit how much a provider is paid at the Plan's "maximum" rate. *Id.* PEIA sets rates and saves costs through many other means as well, such as utilization review, contract negotiation, and managing "provider contracting and payment," *e.g., id.* §§ 5-16-3(c), 5-16-7(a)(6)(B), 5-16-9. Rate limits are backed up by a statute that generally prohibits medical providers from directly billing a PEIA member for any remaining balance—a practice known as "balance-billing." *Id.* § 16-29D-4(a)(2).

Finally, PEIA has established a multi-level review process in its legislative-exempt rules, W. VA. CODE R. §§ 151-1-1 *et seq.* (2019),¹ under which providers may dispute adverse payments, A.R. 416 (Plan § V.9).

¹ This case spans multiple legislative rules. But because the controlling provisions of each rule do not materially differ, the briefing below used their 2019 versions, in line with the Supreme Court of Appeals's common practice of referencing current law where difference with earlier enactments are immaterial. *E.g.*, *Foster Found. v. Gainer*, 228 W. Va. 99, 102 n.1, 717 S.E.2d 883, 886 n.1 (2011). The substantive and controlling components of the 2019 rule appear at A.R. 406-17, (hereinafter, the "Plan"), and the current version is publicly available, through the Code of State Rules Online, at https://tinyurl.com/4awpp6zy.

II. The Legislature sought to regulate and control exorbitant air-ambulance costs.

"Air ambulance services unfortunately do not come cheap. A single flight can cost tens of thousands of dollars." *Cheatham*, 910 F.3d at 757. In 2016, the West Virginia Legislature took notice of this price problem and passed several laws to address the exorbitant costs. *Id.* at 758; *see also* W. VA. CODE § 5-16-8a (2016). These provisions (1) limited air ambulance charges to the U.S. Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services rate and (2) prohibited balance billing for anything above that rate. *Cheatham*, 910 F.3d at 758 & 769.

III. The federal courts declared preempted West Virginia's statutory air ambulance rate limitations and related schedule, but reaffirmed PEIA's broad authority to set and negotiate rates.

District court. In June 2016, Air Evac sued PEIA in federal district court, arguing that the federal Airline Deregulation Act ("ADA") preempted the Legislature's new protective provisions. During the federal suit, Air Evac admitted that other private insurers did not pay its full charge A.R. 264, 272 (Thomas Dep.). But it argued that, unlike other insurers, PEIA had capped Air Evac's recovery from any other source and enforced this cap through threats of civil enforcement actions. *Air Evac EMS, Inc. v. Cheatham*, No. 2:16-CV-05224, 2017 WL 4765966, at *8-9 (S.D.W. Va. Oct. 20, 2017). In October 2017, the district court ruled in Air Evac's favor. *Id.* at *10. It held that the ADA preempts West Virginia Code Section 5-16-5(c)(1) (the maximum-level-of-reimbursement provision) and West Virginia Code Section 5-16-8a (the provision capping air-ambulance reimbursement at the Medicare rate), because these enforcement mechanisms went "beyond the methods available to [] commercial insurer[s]." *Cheatham*, 2017 WL 4765966, at *8-9. And it enjoined PEIA from enforcing those specific statutes and their accompanying fee schedules and regulations. *Id.* at *10. But it left West Virginia Code Section 16-29D-4 (the prohibition on billing PEIA members for the portion of the insurance bill PEIA doesn't cover) alone, *Cheatham*, 2017 WL 4765966, at *10, because Air Evac only challenged this section "in

the alternative." A.R. 172-73. The federal courts also did not mention—much less enjoin—W. VA. CODE § 5-16-3(c), the provision affording PEIA's director discretion in managing the agency.

Demand letters interlude. While PEIA was appealing that decision, Air Evac began pressing a novel interpretation of the West Virginia Public Employees Insurance Act ("PEI Act") in letters to PEIA. Because the fee schedule as applied to air ambulances had been preempted and enjoined, Air Evac argued that PEIA was legally required to pay Air Evac in full for every transport since Air Evac began the litigation (in June 2016). A.R. 101. It also disclaimed any reliance on administrative remedies to resolve its claims. A.R. 107 n.5 (threatening declaratory and injunctive action), A.R. 402 (saying "administrative appeals are not required"), A.R. 404 (same). PEIA responded that neither the injunction nor federal law mandated that it "unquestionably pay whatever amount Air Evac unilaterally establishes as its charge." A.R. 116. Under the PEI Act, the agency routinely pays providers less than their full charge, PEIA explained, and Air Evac was no different. A.R. 116. Even so, PEIA agreed to pay Air Evac for each post-June of 2016 transport at the Medicare Rural rate. A.R. 117.

Fourth Circuit. In December 2018, the Fourth Circuit affirmed the district court's Order. *Cheatham*, 910 F.3d at 770. But in doing so, it explicitly noted that the ADA did not "require" PEIA "to pay whatever" an air ambulance provider "may demand." *Id.* at 769. Rather, PEIA may act like any private insurer and "limit reimbursement for air ambulance services after the fact" if it uses its "market power, and not its unique coercive authority." *Id.*

IV. The Legislature passed a new statute accepted by all sides, and PEIA limited payment on 115 past Air Evac transports to the Medicare Rural rate.

In summer of 2019, the West Virginia Legislature enacted a new air-ambulance fee statute that prospectively required PEIA to pay air ambulance providers at the Medicare Rural rate. W. Va. Acts 2019, c. 146 (June 4, 2019), *codified in* W. VA. CODE § 5-16-8a (2019). And it

removed any otherwise applicable administrative, civil, or criminal penalty. *Id.* Air Evac accepted this limit going forward, but it kept demanding that PEIA pay the full charges for the 115 transports it provided between June 11, 2016, and May 24, 2019. A.R. 91-92.

PEIA tried to negotiate with Air Evac over these past-transport bills, but Air Evac refused to budge from its all-or-nothing position. A.R. 397 (Cheatham Aff. **P** 19), A.R. 102 (Air Evac: offering to accept 90% of total bill change on all future claims). So in mid-2019, the PEIA Director used his West Virginia Code Section 5-16-3(c) discretion, combined with *Cheatham*'s statement that PEIA could limit payments for "services after the fact," and paid Air Evac for the 115 past transports at the Medicare Rural rate. A.R. 397 (Cheatham Aff. **P** 25). The Director also explained that the statutory balance-billing provision did not apply because Air Evac's services were no longer covered under the Plan. A.R. 399 (Cheatham Aff. **P** 33); *see also* W. VA. CODE § 16-29D-4(a)(2) (West Virginia's general balance-billing statute). In this way, PEIA treated Air Evac the same as other providers who do not participate in the Plan: it designated its services as non-covered, voluntarily paid the same amount other air ambulance providers accept, and allowed it to charge PEIA members for the remainder. A.R. 399 (Cheatham Aff. **P** 28-31).

V. Air Evac, ignoring all the correct procedure, sued PEIA in state court.

Air Evac was not pleased. In October 2019, it sent PEIA a letter titled "Demand for Contested Case Hearings," which insisted on both a contested case hearing and full payment on the 115 transports. A.R. 68. PEIA explained to Air Evac that it had the process all wrong: provider payment disputes go through the Plan's review procedures, so the Contested Case Rules ("CCR"), W. VA. CODE R. §§ 151-3-1 *et seq.*, are inapplicable. A.R. 62. PEIA also reminded Air Evac of other, more appropriate forms of relief, such as a claim before the Legislative Claims Commission. A.R. 63. It also told Air Evac that there was no coverage for its claims under the State's liability insurance policy. A.R. 63.

But in December 2019, Air Evac filed a Petition for Appeal, asking the circuit court to (1) "affirm the validity of" the CCR; (2) hold a hearing on the merits of Air Evac's demand; (3) declare that PEIA must pay Air Evac's full charges for the 115 transports; and (4) order PEIA to promptly issue such payment. A.R. 19-20.

VI. The circuit court erred as to jurisdiction, the remedy, and the merits, but it rightly rejected Air Evac's pay-in-full theory.

After briefing and oral argument, in December 2022, the circuit court granted in part and denied in part Air Evac's Petition. But in doing so, it misunderstood sovereign immunity, jurisdiction under the APA and CCR, and PEIA's discretion under the PEI Act.

Sovereign immunity. The circuit court agreed that any award against PEIA would "come from State monies held under the custody of the State Treasurer." A.R. 561 (Order ¶ 49). Normally, this funding source would render PEIA immune. But the circuit court created a new sovereign immunity exception. Sovereign immunity does not apply, it held, when the Legislature "creates a program, appoints an agency to administer it, and requires the agency to make payment[s] out of funds appropriated for that purpose." A.R. 562 (Order ¶ 54). Because the Legislature has designed PEIA to distribute funds, A.R. 561-62 (Order ¶ 51)—and specifically "to pay medical providers," A.R. 562 (Order ¶ 53)—it said PEIA was not sovereignly immune, A.R. 563 (Order ¶ 57).

APA and CCR applicability. The circuit court held—and PEIA agrees—that the CCR are valid and enforceable. A.R. 564 (Order \P 64). But the court rejected PEIA's argument that Air Evac's claims should still be heard under the Plan. The Plan's review process, it said, was "not applicable to the nature of claims Air Evac has brought." A.R. 565 (Order \P 67). The Plan focuses on mistakes, "routine decisions about whether a given service or treatment is covered or medically necessary," and "medical judgment." A.R. 565 (Order \P 68-70). Because the Plan's review

process is purportedly not built to address questions about statutory and constitutional interpretation, Air Evac's claims must "be resolved under the APA" and CCR. A.R. 565-66 (Order $\P\P$ 71-72). The circuit court never reviewed or discussed the CCR in making this decision; it said only that because the Plan wouldn't do, the CCR had to.

The merits. On the merits, the circuit court thought both sides were wrong. It rejected Air Evac's destructive PEI Act severability analysis and the resulting argument that PEIA had to pay Air Evac whatever Air Evac wants. A.R. 567-70 (Order ¶ 81-95). Turning to PEIA's argument, the circuit court agreed that, under West Virginia Code Section 5-16-3(c), the Director had used his discretion to pay Air Evac the Medicare Rural rate for the 115 transports and designated the rest of those bills "noncovered." A.R. 572 (Order ¶ 103). But it found both decisions suspect. A.R. 573 (Order ¶ 108) (PEIA was "potentially" violating the federal injunction). *First*, the circuit court read Cheatham to prohibit the Director from declaring a "maximum level of reimbursement" for Air Evac—"including through a fee schedule." A.R. 573-74 (Order ¶ 109). Using Section 5-16-3(c)'s discretion to pay the Medicare Rural rate amounted to the same thing. A.R. 575 (Order ¶ 110-11). Second, the circuit court mistakenly thought PEIA was "retroactively" and unilaterally "lift[ing] the ban on balance-billing" for air ambulances under its Section 5-16-3(c) discretion. A.R. 574-75 (Order ¶ 114). The circuit court noted that when the 115 transports were happening (from 2016 to 2019), Section 5-16-8a(a) (2016) forbade air-ambulance balance billing. A.R. 576 (Order ¶ 120). The Director couldn't use Section 5-16-3(c) to erase that statute, the circuit court said. A.R. 575-76 (Order ¶ 118-19). That the Legislature deleted that prohibition in 2019 was said to be more proof the Director lacked this power. A.R. 575 (Order ¶ 116-17).

Given that the circuit court thought both sides were wrong on the merits, it (1) invalidated PEIA's payments regarding the 115 transports; (2) remanded the case for "further administrative

proceedings and negotiations consistent with *Cheatham*, the APA," and the CCR; and (3) denied Air Evac's request for "the entirety of its past charges for the [115] transports." A.R. 578.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The circuit court's order suffers from two jurisdictional defects, either of which should have ended Air Evac's case.

I. *First*, PEIA is sovereignly immune. Under Article VI, Section 35 of the West Virginia Constitution, the "state of West Virginia" cannot be a "defendant in any court of law or equity." PEIA counts as the State because the Legislature created it, it does state work across all of West Virginia, and it is funded from the State Treasury. Air Evac's suit conflicts with this immunity because it seeks state funds to pay for past transports. Section 35 has several exceptions, but this case fits none of them. The circuit court invented one that applies whenever an agency is administering a legislatively created program that requires making payments. This exception has no basis in law; violates the nature of *constitutional* immunity; contradicts the sole case the circuit court quoted in support; and contradicts other Supreme Court of Appeals case law, too. The Legislative Claims Commission, which has handled claims against PEIA for decades, was the proper forum for this sort of claim. This jurisdictional failing requires reversal.

II. Second, the circuit court further lacked jurisdiction because the petition was not proper under either the APA or CCR. An agency appeal under the APA or CCR must be a "contested case," meaning Air Evac must identify a right to an administrative hearing. But Air Evac and the circuit court can't find one. The PEI Act allows for contested-case hearings in only insurance-fraud cases, not provider-payment disputes. Air Evac thinks the CCR gives it a right to a hearing, but this view is wrong. The CCR are procedural rules; they include no substantive rights. And they import the term "contested case" from the APA, which never uses the term to create a hearing right. The APA and CCR must work in tandem with an external statute or rule that creates the right. Further, even if the CCR's mechanism applied here, the Plan's review process trumps it. As a legislative-exempt rule, the Plan has controlling weight, and it outlines a three-step process that providers should use to settle payment disputes like this one. The circuit court thought the Plan couldn't tackle this subject matter, but that's not the circuit court's choice. And using the CCR here ends up at the same place as the Plan: both processes let PEIA's Director make the final agency decision on Air Evac's bills. This Court should reverse on this ground too.

Besides these jurisdictional flaws, the circuit court was wrong on the merits.

III. PEIA has the statutory authority to limit payments to Air Evac to the Medicare Rural rate without violating the federal injunction. Under West Virginia Code Section 5-16-3(c), the Director has full authority to manage provider negotiation, contracting, and payment. This authority easily includes the Director's decision to pay Air Evac at the Medicare Rural rate for the 115 transports. This reading supports the PEI Act's broad objectives, including fiscal stability and expansive Director discretion. And it does not offend the federal injunction. The injunction said West Virginia can't use unique government power to cap Air Evac's recovery—it must act like a market player. That's what PEIA did here—it limited what *it* would pay Air Evac, but it did not use its government power to stop Air Evac from balance billing PEIA members. Air Evac can now bill PEIA's members directly if it chooses because the air-ambulance-specific balance-billing prohibition is preempted, and the Director exercised his lawful authority to exempt bills for the 115 transports from the general balance-billing prohibition.

IV. Either way, PEIA is qualifiedly immune. Under West Virginia's common law, an agency doing government work has qualified immunity for discretionary acts unless it violates clearly established rights. PEIA has broad statutory discretion to decide how much to pay Air

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