ICA EFiled: Jul 31 2023

07:21PM EDT

Transaction ID 70527935

IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

JASON HAUGHT, IN HIS CAPACITY AS DIRECTOR OF THE PUBLIC EMPLOYEES INSURANCE AGENCY, AND MARK D. SCOTT, GEOFF S. CHRISTIAN, AMANDA D. MEADOWS, JARED ROBERTSON, DAMITA JOHNSON, JASON MYERS, MICHAEL COOK, WILLIAM MILAM, AND MICHAEL T. SMITH, IN THEIR CAPACITIES AS MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC EMPLOYEES INSURANCE AGENCY FINANCE BOARD,

Petitioners-Appellants,

v.

AIR EVAC EMS, INC.

Respondent-Appellee.

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, No. 19-AA-169 Hon, Carrie L. Webster

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT-APPELLEE AIR EVAC EMS, INC.

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

Finally, in *Maupin v. Sidiropolis*, the Supreme Court of Appeals again reviewed an administrative decision by an arm of the state under W. Va. Code § 29A-5-4—this time, the West Virginia State Racing Commission. *Maupin v. Sidiropolis*, 215 W. Va. 492, 493 (2004). In that case, the petitioner sought payment from the West Virginia Greyhound Breeding Development Fund, for which the legislature had appropriated funds to promote better breeding and racing of greyhounds in the state. *Id.*, at 496. As in *Curry, Charleston Area Medical Center*, and here, the

state entity appeared in response to a petition to argue in favor of its administrative decision under Section 29A-5-4. *Id.* That is, the State Racing Commission was not a "defendant;" instead, it was responding to a petition concerning the legal reasoning underpinning its administrative decision-making. The Supreme Court ultimately held that the state entity was required to disburse funds that the legislature had earmarked for disbursement. *Id.*, at 496 (discussing purpose of legislature's appropriated funds); 498-99 (holding that the Racing Commission's administrative order erred, and that the petitioner was entitled to the funds).

In none of these cases did the Court refuse to entertain an action seeking payment from an agency based on concerns of sovereign immunity—and for good reason. Each petitioner sued agencies—the West Virginia Tax Department, the West Virginia Consolidated Public Retirement Board, and the West Virginia Racing Commission—which are charged with administering a statutory scheme. Should they run afoul of the law and fail to administer those monies or benefits in manner consistent with the law, there must be—and indeed is—judicial review. In the absence of such review, agencies would be able to flout the very legislative directive they are beholden to, usurping by decree the fundamental and balancing power bestowed on reviewing courts. *See* Syl. Pt. 1, *State ex rel. Frazier v. Meadows*, 193 W. Va. 20, 21–22, 454 S.E.2d 65, 66–67 (1994) ("The system of 'checks and balances' . . . practically compels courts, when called upon, to thwart any unlawful actions of one branch of government which impair the constitutional responsibilities and functions of a coequal branch.").

The same reasoning applies here. The Legislature created PEIA with the duty to establish health insurance plans to pay for medical care for public employees, including "coverage for emergency services" by "an ambulance." *See* W. Va. Code §§ 5-16-7, 5-16-8(12)(a)–(b). As a general matter, PEIA is largely funded by Legislative appropriations, and it is required to deposit

its monies in a fund as well as maintain a reserve fund for "unanticipated claim[s]." *See generally* W. Va. Code §§ 5-16-18, 5-16-25. PEIA is required to distribute these funds as required by law, including to pay medical providers (who are, in turn, instructed to "bill" the State for payment). *See*, e.g., W. Va. Code §§ 5-16-3, 5-16-5(c)(1), 5-16-18(f), 5-16-11, 16-29D-3(f), 16-29D-4(a)(2).

PEIA's attempts to interject confusion on this point are unavailing. The cases it cites, *Phillips, Skaff*, and *Arnold Agency*, do nothing to further its position. Pet. Br. 17 – 18. None of these cases involve the unique scenario at hand: a federal injunction invalidating a statutory regime under which a state agency is withholding already appropriated funds to be paid for non-discretionary emergency services.

Additionally, two of these cases, *Phillips* and *Arnold Agency*, were direct lawsuits naming the States instead of a judicial review of the propriety of an administrative decision. This fact alone makes them distinct from this action, but the relief sought in both *Phillips* and *Arnold Agency* was also for services that had not even been rendered. In *Phillips*, the plaintiff, sued in circuit court, complaining of a lack of allotted work under a contract with the Department of Health and Human Resources ("DHHR"), under which DHHR had exclusive discretion for the allotment of work. 2020 WL 3408421, at *1. In *Arnold Agency*, the plaintiff filed direct suit in circuit court, challenging the propriety of a lost bid with the West Virginia Lottery Commission. 206 W. Va. at 588. Neither claims in *Phillips* or *Arnold Agency* were seeking reimbursement for any services rendered.

Finally, while *Phillips* and *Arnold Agency* are merely inapposite, the *Skaff* case *fundamentally supports* Air Evac's position in this case. As provided in *Skaff*, "[t]he sovereign immunity doctrine is implicated when retroactive monetary relief against the State is sought, but does not operate as to bar an award which is prospective in nature." 200 W. Va. at 706. PEIA's

reliance on *Skaff* and, in turn, its suggestion that Air Evac seeks "retroactive recovery" of State funds misses the point entirely.

To be sure, Air Evac is seeking *prospective* payment. The line between prospective and retroactive recovery in this case must be drawn to include all disputed transports that are open and unresolved between the date federal suit was initiated and the effective date of S.B. 587 (the end of the balance billing prohibition). Until that new law became effective in June, 2019, all disputed transports taking place prior to that date remained open and PEIA is required—under West Virginia severability law—to pay those transports prospectively in full. Indeed, *Skaff* explicitly recognized, as other cases have, that the initiation of suit (here *Cheatham*) to challenge State action (here PEIA's) marks the date from which payment sought becomes "prospective." 200 W. Va. at 705.

Here, Air Evac seeks payment for transports made after the filing of the *Cheatham* complaint on June 9, 2016, through the new law's effective date in June, 2019. In *Skaff*, the Supreme Court of Appeals authorized similar payments, holding that "the appellees are entitled to [remuneration] . . . from the filing of their complaint on August 16, 1991 until August 3, 1993 when the new rules became effective." *Id.* All along the way—and even before the *Cheatham* Complaint—Air Evac has advised PEIA of its intentions and demands for full and appropriate compensation on its transports. This is the very type of prospective recovery that would otherwise render the sovereign immunity rule inapplicable.

Even so, the Court need only distinguish between prospective and retroactive recovery if sovereign immunity would otherwise be applicable, and—as explained above—it is not. As such, the Court should uphold the Circuit Court's ruling and find that sovereign immunity simply is not implicated by the case before it, where it is reviewing administrative decisions made under the

West Virginia APA. And, even if the Court considers sovereign immunity, it should have no role when the monies Air Evac seeks have already been appropriated by the Legislature, and where such payments are prospective in nature. *Mellon-Stuart Co. v. Hall*, 178 W. Va. at 296; *Skaff*, 200 W. Va. at 705.

Qualified immunity is waived and otherwise of no application. PEIA's argument for qualified immunity is made for the first time in its briefing before this Court. PEIA did not raise qualified immunity in summarily rejecting Air Evac's Contested Case Demand. App. 062 – 063. And it did not raise the issue before the Circuit Court in the first stage of this appeal. App. 366 – 446. As such, PEIA's late-arriving argument is waived. Syl. Pt. 2, *State ex rel. Cooper v. Caperton*, 196 W.Va. 208, 210-211, 470 S.E.2d 162,164-165 (1996) ("To preserve an issue for appellate review, a party must articulate it with such sufficient distinctiveness to alert a circuit court to the nature of the claimed defect."). *Cf. Jackson v. Belcher*, 753 S.E.2d 11, 24 n.4 (W. Va. 2013) (recognizing that "qualified immunity is in the nature of an affirmative defense.") (quoting *Vent v. Johnson*, 2009 Ark. 92, 303 S.W.3d 46 (2009); *Hutchinson v. Lemmon*, 436 F. App'x 210, 218 (4th Cir. 2011) (the Fourth Circuit observing when presented with a "state-law qualified immunity" claim by a West Virginia State Police officer that such a claim "may be waived" before rejecting the qualified immunity claim for failure to have it "squarely presented" to the lower court.).

PEIA's call for qualified immunity also fails substantively. PEIA cannot reinvent its basis for reimbursement to Air Evac after its original basis was deemed illegal. This strikes at the heart of qualified immunity. Here, PEIA has not exercised lawful discretion—it has doubled down on administration of an illegal statutory regime in the face of federal court orders telling it that it cannot do so.

The Circuit Court concluded the same: "[t]his Court rejects [PEIA's] argument that the Director has the authority to determine the amount PEIA will pay Air Evac for the past charges and transport and, further, to shift the remaining payment burden for the past charges and transports at issue onto PEIA's insureds." App. 572. That, as the Circuit Court observed, is not discretion or a permissible judgment call. App. 572 – 574.

III. PEIA Attempts to Rewrite *Cheatham* and the Sequence of History in its Claim that it has Discretion to Deny Reimbursements.

Mirroring its qualified immunity argument, PEIA maintains that it is entitled to ignore the *Cheatham* injunction and continue limiting air ambulance payments to the amount in the fee schedule the Fourth Circuit held preempted—leaving injured public employees with the bill. According to PEIA, the federal courts overlooked a supposed "second payment authority" possessed by Director Cheatham: W. Va. Code § 5-16-3(c), which authorizes the Director to "manage . . . provider negotiations . . . and . . . payment." App. 384; Pet. 33 – 38. Under this back-up provision, it claims, the Director retains the discretion to do precisely what the Fourth Circuit said he could not. PEIA's position makes a mockery of the federal-court injunction, is wrong on the law, and if credited, would impose a staggering retrospective liability on West Virginia public employees.

First, under the federal injunction, PEIA is forbidden from relying on its statutory authority to "establish [m]aximum levels of reimbursement" that it "makes to" air ambulances and is enjoined from enforcing any "fee schedules" doing so. W. Va. Code § 5-16-5(c)(1); Cheatham, 2017 WL 4765966, at *10. Section 5-16-3(c) preserves the Director's general, "day-to-day" power to administer the plan "as a benefits management professional." PEIA's position is that the Director can use this general administrative power to cap payments at the same level as the preempted fee schedules. This formalistic ploy displays an aggressive disregard for the authority

of the federal courts, which have forbidden enforcement of the fee schedules. *See* 18 U.S.C. § 401 (punishing contempt of a federal court's "authority," including "resistance to its lawful writ, process, order, rule, decree, or command").

Second, PEIA tries to justify its stance by suggesting that all the Director is doing when he refuses to pay the disputed claims is limiting PEIA's reimbursement, while Air Evac is supposedly free to bill PEIA members for the balance. App. 386 - 389; Pet. 33 - 38. This is contrary to the law.

To recap:

- In 2016, when this litigation commenced, West Virginia law capped airambulance reimbursements via a fee schedule that adopted the notoriously inadequate federal Medicare rate. *See Cheatham*, 910 F.3d at 758, 767; *see also* W. Va. Code 5-16-8a (capping the amount Air Evac could receive at either the "federal medicare rate" or the annual cost of Air Evac's membership program). Air Evac was also prohibited by law from "balance-billing PEIA members." W. Va. Code § 16-29D-4.
- Air Evac filed its federal suit on *June 9*, 2016, challenging the fee schedule and—in the alternative—the balance-billing prohibition.
- The federal district court enjoined the rate-capping provisions and fee schedules on *October 20, 2017*. However, the federal district court left the prohibition on balance-billing in place. The Fourth Circuit unanimously affirmed this injunction on *December 7, 2018*. This injunction remains in effect today.
- On *June 4*, 2019, the West Virginia Legislature adopted a new law (at PEIA's behest) that authorizes PEIA to limit reimbursement at the Medicare Rural rate and exempts air ambulances from penalties for balance billing. W. Va. Code § 5-16-8a (2019). As PEIA admit, the 2019 Legislation was "prospective" only and did not purport to allow balance-billing for transports provided prior to the statute's effective date.
- All of the claims at issue in this dispute concern transports provided between June 9, 2016 and June 4, 2019—in other words, while Air Evac was subject to the balance-billing ban.

Accordingly, Section 16-29D-4, which prohibits balance billing of PEIA insureds, is applicable to all of the claims at issue in this dispute. The Director has no authority, whether from Section 5-16-3(c) or any other provision, to override this provision. An agency's rules cannot "enlarge, amend or repeal substantive rights created by statute." *Penn Virginia Operating Co., LLC v. Yokum*, 829 S.E. 2d 747, 752 (W. Va. 2019) (citation omitted); *Zelenka v. City of Weirton*, 208 W. Va. 243, 245 n.2 (2000) ("the Legislature enacted the statutory provision[] at issue, and only the Legislature has the authority to amend" it).

Third, if PEIA is correct, then it has imposed a breathtaking retroactive liability on West Virginia public employees. As just reviewed, up until June 4, 2019, those employees and PEIA beneficiaries had statutory protection from balance billing for air-ambulance transports. That includes the \$4 million in unpaid balances at issue here. If the Director is allowed, with the stroke of a pen, to rescind that statutory protection and subject the affected PEIA insureds to balance billing for these claims, that result would be contrary to West Virginia law, see Yokum, 829 S.E. 2d at 752; Zelenka, 208 W. Va. at 245 n.2, and raise significant constitutional questions, see, e.g., W. Va. Const. art. III, § 3-4 (prohibits laws "impairing the obligation of a contract"); id. art. III, § 10 ("[n]o person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property without due process of law "); Kisner v. Public Serv. Comm'n, 163 W. Va. 565, 570 (1979) (for due process purposes, "a

7

⁷ PEIA suggest that the Fourth Circuit invited it to retroactively shift the costs of compliance with the injunction on to injured employees by noting that PEIA could "limit reimbursements for air ambulance services after the fact." *Cheatham*, 910 F.3d at 769. That is misleading. What the Fourth Circuit wrote is that West Virginia could comply with the ADA "moving forward" through several mechanisms, including "negotiat[ing] better rates up front or limit[ing] reimbursements for air ambulance services after the fact"—so long as PEIA did not cap Air Evac's total reimbursement. *Id.* at 769 & n.3 (emphasis added). As it happens, "[m]oving forward" from the *Cheatham* decision, PEIA has scorned Air Evac's repeated efforts to engage the Director and reach a permanent reimbursement agreement. Instead, PEIA has unfortunately convinced the Legislature to thrust balance billing on PEIA insureds; that is the 2019 Legislation, which compromises PEIA's very mission to safeguard the interests of its insureds. *See* W. Va. Code § 16-29D-1(a)(6). Regardless, nothing in the Fourth Circuit's opinion suggested that PEIA was free enforce its fee schedule on past transports and exposing insureds to balance-billing.

'property interest' . . . extends to those benefits to which an individual may be deemed to have a legitimate claim of entitlement under existing rules or understandings").

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should not disturb the Circuit Court's findings that PEIA's prohibited actions are not insulated by sovereign immunity and that Air Evac properly engaged PEIA's own contested case rules for resolution of the disputed emergency transport reimbursements under the APA. Further, this Court should reject PEIA's *post hoc* rationalizations that it may, somehow, operate in direct contravention of the federal courts' orders in *Cheatham*. Finally, for many related reasons and also because it is waived, this Court should reject PEIA's late-arriving qualified immunity argument.